Applying a systems approach to assess carbon emission reductions from climate change mitigation in Mexico's forest sector

by

Marcela Olguín-Álvarez

B.Sc., Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, 2001

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Resource Management

in the School of Resources and Environmental Management Faculty of Environment Report No. 686

> © Marcela Olguín-Álvarez 2017 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Fall 2017

All rights reserved. However, in accordance with the Copyright Act of Canada, this work may be reproduced, without authorization, under the conditions for Fair Dealing. Therefore, limited reproduction of this work for the purposes of private study, research, education, satire, parody, criticism, review and news reporting is likely to be in accordance with the law, particularly if cited appropriately.

Approval

Name:	Marcela	a Olguín-Alvarez				
Degree:	Master of Resource Management					
Title:	Applying a systems approach to assess carbon emission reductions from climate change mitigation in Mexico´s forest sector					
Report No.	686					
Examining Committee:	Chair:	Laramie Ferguson Master of Resource Management candidate				

Ken Lertzman

Senior Supervisor Professor

Werner Kurz

Supervisor Adjunct Professor

Date Defended/Approved: 4 October, 2017

Abstract

Mexico was the first Non-Annex I country to submit its Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) and its Climate Change Mid-Century Strategy in accordance with the Paris Agreement of the United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Since 2012, the Mexican government through its National Forestry Commission (CONAFOR), with support from the North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation, the Forest Services of Canada and USA, the USA SilvaCarbon Program and research institutes in Mexico, has made important progress towards the use of carbon dynamics models to explore climate change mitigation options in the forest sector. Following a systems approach, here we assess the biophysical mitigation potential of forest ecosystems, harvested wood products and substitution benefits, for policy alternatives identified by the Mexican Government (e.g. net zero deforestation rate, sustainable forest management). We provide key messages and results derived from the use of available analytical frameworks (Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector and a harvested wood products model), parameterized with local input data in two contrasting states within Mexico. Using information from the National Forest Monitoring System (e.g. forest inventories, remote sensing, disturbance data), we demonstrate that activities aimed at reaching a net-zero deforestation rate can yield significant CO_2e mitigation benefits by 2030 and 2050 relative to a baseline scenario ("business as usual"), but, if combined with increasing forest harvest to produce long-lived products and substitute more energy-intensive materials, emissions reductions, could also provide other co-benefits (e.g. jobs, reduction in illegal logging). The relative impact of mitigation activities is locally dependent, suggesting that mitigation strategies should be designed and implemented at sub-national scales. Thus, the ultimate goal of this tri-national effort is to develop data and tools for carbon assessment in strategic landscapes in North America, emphasizing the need to include multiple sectors and types of collaborators (scientific and policy-maker communities) to design more comprehensive portfolios for climate change mitigation.

Keywords: Forest carbon; greenhouse gas; INDC; REDD+; forest management; Mexico; CBM-CFS3

Acknowledgements

I am very thankful to Ken Lertzman, Werner Kurz and Craig Wayson, for their academic guidance, insights, patience and invaluable friendship. Thank you for encouraging me to continue and achieve success despite even my resistance at times.

To my family, for their unconditional love and support on every path I take. Thanks for being a constant motivation to work with others, in community, and for reassuring me that a better world is possible.

To my dear friends from the School of Resource and Environmental Management and the Pacific Forestry Centre (students and staff). I am grateful for all the wonderful memories while conducting the courses, going on field trips, and more, during the years I lived in Canada. Thank you for always making me feel welcome.

Funding for this research was provided by the Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC) as part of a tri-national project. I am especially grateful to Karen Richardson and her colleagues in CEC for providing invaluable coordination and administrative support. I thank the three North American Forest Services (National Forest Commission of Mexico - CONAFOR, Canadian Forest Service of Natural Resources Canada, and U.S.D.A. Forest Service), the USA SilvaCarbon program, Mexico's National Institute of Ecology and Climate Change (INECC) and members from academia in Mexico, for their technical support, valuable information and comments provided to the analyses. I also wish to thank the Mexican National Council on Science and Technology (CONACYT) for funding my graduate studies in Canada, the Government of Norway, the United Nations Development Program (UNDP) and the UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) for their financial and coordination support in an earlier stage of this work in Mexico through CONAFOR's project: "Reinforcing REDD+ and South-South Cooperation". The views expressed in this study do not necessarily reflect the positions of the Government of Durango, the Government of Quintana Roo, or the Governments of Mexico.

Table of Contents

Approval	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Chapter 2. Methods	4
2.1. Study areas	4
2.2. Modeling framework and data	6
2.2.1. Spatial framework	6
2.2.2. Forest ecosystem dynamics for Mexico	8
Activity Data	13
Disturbance matrices	17
Harvested wood products and displacement factors	19
2.3. Simulation scenarios	20
2.4. Land-Use Change (LUC) analysis	22
Chapter 3 Results	23
3.1 Historic and baseline emissions	20
3 1 1 Activity data	20
312 Emissions	
3.2 Mitigation	
0.2. Wiligutor	
Chapter 4. Discussion	29
4.1. Mitigation potential by scenario	29
4.2. LUC analysis	
4.3. Comparisons of model predictions and published estimates	
4.4. Considerations for implementation of scenarios	35
	~=
Chapter 5. Conclusion	
References	

List of Tables

Table 1.Classification scheme for INEGI's Land Use/Land Cover labels into general classes used in this study, harmonized according to IPCC, Biennial Update Report (BUR) and Monitoring Activity Data for the Mexican REDD+ program (MAD-Mex) categories	3
Table 2. Example of a Land-Use/Land-Cover (LULC) change matrix for the States of (a) DGO (only Temperate Sierras and Tropical Dry Forests ecoregions) and (b) QROO (excluding Wetlands within Temperate Humid Forests ecoregion), using re-classified INEGI LULC maps for years 2002 to 2007 and 2007 to 2011. Cells in red represent forest land change to non-forest in green color changes from a non-forest class to forest land, remaining cells total forest cover without change (e.g. transitions to other forest types or losses/gains of other vegetation types). All areas are in ha14	, 1
Table 3. Average values used to track carbon dynamics in forest ecosystem and harvested wood products components in the selected states by dominant commercial species type.	5
Table 4. Examples of disturbance matrices to account for carbon transfers among forest carbon pools and between these and the atmosphere due to: (a) surface fire events and (b) deforestation events which are assumed to consume 20% of the small trees and foliage, and transfer dead standing trees and their branches to the ground	3
Table 5. Summary of the four mitigation strategies and sub-scenarios (relative to business as usual – BAU) for the forest ecosystem (FE), Harvested wood products (HWP) and Substitution benefit (SB) components, in Durango (DGO) and Quintana Roo (QROO)2 ⁷	1
Table 6. Average annual mitigation (TgCO ₂ e yr ⁻¹) by decadal range: 2021-2030 (A), 2031-2040 (B), and 2041-2050 (C), for each scenario and sub-scenario.	5
Table 7. Comparison of average values of current growth rate, proposed increased rate and possible increased rate (in Mg C ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹), by main ecoregions-forest types in both states, over a 50-years rotation cycle.	2
Table 8. Comparisons of reported average estimates on carbon stocks for aboveground	

biomass (AGBiom) and soil organic carbon (SOC) in DGO and QROO. 34

List of Figures

Figure 1.Dura	ngo (DGO) and Quintana Roo (QROO) study areas with main land- use/land-cover classes
Figure 2. Distr	ribution of the 6 Spatial Units resulted from the intersections of North American Ecoregions-Level I polygons (in colors) and Mexican states boundaries (in black) selected as pilot areas for Mexico: four in Durango and two in Quintana Roo
Figure 3. Exar	mple of INFYS plots selection for growth curves in QROO, using information on (a) ecoregion level IV (Tropical Dry in red, Tropical Humid in purple, Temperate Sierras in green), (b) plot locations (dots) and number of plots measured and re-measured, and (c) permanent forest cover (green color with different forest cover types in various shades of green)
Figure 4. Exar	mples of growth curves created to represent annual merchantable volume accumulation (m ³ ha ⁻¹) of the main forest types and ecoregions in (a) DGO (i.e. ecoregion Level I "Temperate Sierras") and (b) QROO (i.e. ecoregions Level IV in "Tropical Humid")
Figure 5. Estir	mated forest age classes distribution (in Mha) in the dominant forests in (a) DGO (i.e. ecoregion Level I Temperate Sierras) and (b) QROO (i.e. ecoregions Level IV in Tropical Humid)
Figure 6. Ann	ual CO ₂ e balance in the states of DGO (left column) and QROO (right column) for the historic (2000-2017) and Business as Usual (2018-2050) periods
Figure 7. Curr	nulative mitigation for four scenarios (with sub-scenarios) in the states of DGO (left column) and QROO (right column) by component: (a) Forests, (b) HWP, (c) displacement and (d) the total cumulative mitigation27
Figure 8. Curr	oulative mitigation for all systems components and scenarios for the states of DGO (a: year 2030, b: year 2050) and QROO (c: year 2030, d: year 2050)
Figure 9. Com	nparison of BAU and scenarios M1 (net zero deforestation rate) and M2 (increased net forest recovery rate) in the forest ecosystem component of QROO, assuming gross deforestation rates were doubled and gross reforestation rates increased such that the net deforestation rate is the same in both scenarios.(a) Annual net GHG balance and (b) cumulative mitigation for M1 and M2 scenarios in the forest component

Chapter 1. Introduction

Mexico consumes the most fossil fuels of all Latin American countries (IEA 2016), contributing about 1.4% of total global greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015). The Government of Mexico has committed to monitor and reduce its net GHG emissions to the atmosphere (SEMARNAT-INECC 2016). In 2012, Mexico was the first Non-Annex I country to establish a comprehensive General Climate Change Law (DOF 2012), which mandated the design and implementation of a national-scale measuring, reporting and verification (MRV) system. In 2015 Mexico submitted its Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) to reduce GHG and Short-Lived Climate Pollutant emissions 22% by 2030, and 50% by 2050 relative to its emissions in 2000 (UNFCCC 2015), and further detailed the forest sector's contribution in its midcentury strategy (SEMARNAT-INECC 2016). Mexico ranks twelfth in the world in forest cover (FAO 2015). The Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) sector in Mexico is considered a net GHG sink of 140.6 Tg CO₂e (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015). compensating for one-fifth of the GHG emissions reported from all other sectors in 2013. Currently, Mexico reports GHG emissions for the LULUCF sector using methodology at an intermediate or Tier 2 level, using the stock-change approach with emissions factors estimated from country-specific forest-plot measurements (CONAFOR et al. 2014).

Changes in the carbon stocks in forest systems result from multiple dynamic processes (e.g. growth and mortality of biomass, litter production, decomposition of dead organic matter, natural and anthropogenic disturbances), which interact from the scale of a tree to the entire landscape (Nabuurs *et al.* 2007). Mexico recognizes the importance of advancing towards reporting levels with reduced uncertainty and is exploring more complex methodologies such as carbon dynamics models for measuring, monitoring and projecting future GHG emissions (PRONAFOR 2014, SEMARNAT-INECC 2016). Such models are powerful tools that allow the integration of information about land sector carbon dynamics and analysis at different spatial and temporal scales in a consistent manner (Kurz *et al.* 2009, Pilli *et al.* 2017). These models also improve the understanding of the mechanisms controlling carbon exchange between the atmosphere and vegetation (Birdsey *et al.* 2013). They can also be used to establish baselines and create scenarios for comparing and examining future impacts of different activities on

1

carbon dynamics (e.g. management, land-use change, natural disturbances; Metsaranta *et al.* 2010, IPCC 2011, Smyth *et al.* 2014).

Since 2012, Mexico's National Forestry Commission (CONAFOR), with financial and technical support from the Government of Norway, the United Nations Development Program, the Canadian Forest Service, the U.S. Forest Service, the USA SilvaCarbon Program, the U.S. Agency for International Development, and the North American Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC), started to modify and adapt available methods and modeling frameworks to estimate the role of Mexican forest ecosystems on GHG emissions/removals (Dai *et al.* 2015, Olguin *et al.* 2015, Mascorro *et al.* 2016, Kurz *et al.* 2016a). Building upon the work coordinated by the CEC, the Forest Services of the three countries have continued to advance the use of these analytical frameworks to evaluate the effects of human activities on future GHG emissions (e.g. in the US, Dugan *et al.* in review; in Mexico, Olguin *et al.* in review; and in Canada, Smyth *et al.* in review).

The primary objective of this project is to present an assessment of several forest policy alternatives identified by the Mexican Government that could contribute to meeting their GHG reductions goals, within two states identified as priority areas for the implementation of REDD+ activities (e.g. Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation, Smith *et al.* 2014) need to cite a reference for REDD – this is the first time you've mentioned it and you can't assume everyone will know what it is) and sustainable management practices in forests under social tenure (CONAFOR 2013, 2015).

Earlier studies have recognized that forest management practices and conservation can play a key role to mitigate climate change in Mexico (Masera 1995, de Jong *et al.* 1997, 2007, Olguin *et al.* 2011, 2016). Forest mitigation strategies should minimize net GHG emissions without compromising other societal needs (e.g. timber, fiber, energy, etc.) because changes in wood supply can affect the use of more emissions-intensive materials (e.g. fossil fuels, concrete, steel, Sathre and O'Connor 2010, Garcia *et al.* 2015, Smyth *et al.* 2016). Our second objective is thus to share lessons learned from the use of the analytical framework to assess and rank alternative mitigation options that can help the policy-making community in Mexico and other countries to prioritize mitigation actions. We use a systems-based approach which includes carbon dynamics

2

in forests, carbon storage in harvested wood products (HWP) and changes in emissions from displacing emissions intensive products and fossil energy sources (Nabuurs *et al.* 2007, Lemprière *et al.* 2013, Kurz *et al.* 2016b). This is the first comprehensive forest sector-based mitigation analysis using the same primary data employed in Mexico's current MRV system.

Chapter 2. Methods

2.1. Study areas

In consultation with CONAFOR, we identified potential forest carbon mitigation scenarios and high-priority areas in which to evaluate them. CONAFOR selected the states of Durango (DGO) and Quintana Roo (QROO) due to their sound institutional coordination of forest policy implementation and the relevance of their forests for community-based management (Bray *et al.* 2003, Garcia-Lopez 2013, Ellis *et al.* 2015). These states provide contrasting biophysical characteristics, historic land-use changes, and contributions to national timber production (INEGI 2015a, 2015b).

The state of Durango (DGO) is located in the northwest of Mexico (Figure 1) with a total area of 12.3 M ha. The climate is very dry to dry/semi-dry in the eastern-central portion of the state (54% of land area), while in the western portion is mostly temperate subhumid (34% of land area) and tropical sub-humid (11% of land area). Mean annual temperature (MAT) is 17°C, ranging from 1.7 °C in January to 31°C in May-June (García 1998). Mean annual precipitation (MAP) is 500 mm. DGO's geography is complex, including vast deserts in the north, sierras and plains with extensive pastureland in the central and east, and parts of the Sierra Madre Occidental in the west. Soil types include Lithosols and Regosol, particularly in forest lands, and Phaeozems soils in grasslands and agricultural lands (INEGI 2014). Forest lands (based on forest classification used in the Biennial Update Report, INECC-SEMARNAT 2015) extend over an area of ~6 M ha. Of these, ~5 M ha contain coniferous and broadleaf species in pure or mixed stands (INEGI 2011) (Figure 1), which are mostly managed for timber extraction by more than 350 forest communities (Bray et al. 2003, García-López 2013). Losses to forest cover are primarily due to fires, particularly in areas near human activities (Avila-Flores et al. 2010). Other forest disturbances such as land-use change and pest events have relatively low impact on forest cover loss (INEGI 2015a). Since year 2000, the state of DGO has ranked first among Mexican states in national timber production, averaging 1.7 M m³ yr⁻¹ extracted (SEMARNAT 2014).



Figure 1.Durango (DGO) and Quintana Roo (QROO) study areas with main landuse/land-cover classes.

The state of Quintana Roo (QROO; Figure 1) is located on the east side of the Yucatan Peninsula, covering an area of 4.4 M ha (INEGI 2011). The climate is sub-tropical, hot and sub-humid, with dry winters and wet summers. MAP and MAT are 1200 mm and 26 °C, respectively (García 1998). Topography is characterized by a limestone platform with little elevational profile ranging from 0 to 300 m asl. Soil types are mainly Leptosols (~50%), but also Gleysols, Phaeozems and Vertisols (Fragoso-Servón *et al.* 2017). Forest lands cover an area of about 3.7 M ha (INEGI 2011), characterized mainly by tropical semi-evergreen and semi-deciduous species (Figure 1). Timber extraction under sustainable management plans started in the early 1990s with a community-based forestry approach. Recently, timber production has been 40 K m³ yr⁻¹ on average, ranking first in production of tropical species in Mexico (SEMARNAT 2014). Forests in QROO have been subject to human activities (e.g. slash-and-burn agriculture and

selective harvest) for thousands of years, with cycles of high density occupation and abandonment (Ford and Nigh 2009). Over the past decade, forest cover losses have been driven primarily by livestock and commercial maize production, and fires (Ellis *et al.* 2017). Currently QROO is part of Mexico's strategy for REDD+ activities (CONAFOR 2015).

2.2. Modeling framework and data

We quantified the mitigation potential of the selected scenarios in the forest sector as the sum of the changes in net emissions, relative to a business as usual scenario. We used the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3; Kurz et al. 2009, Stinson et al. 2011) and the Carbon Budget Modelling Framework for Harvested Wood Products (CBM-FHWP; Smyth et al. 2014). Both models are consistent with IPCC Guidelines for national GHG reporting (IPCC 2006) and are used operationally by Canada for the annual production the National GHG Inventory Report (Environment Canada 2017). They have been adapted to represent Mexican conditions and are using data from Mexico. The scientific approach and necessary inputs for the parameterization of these models have been extensively documented (Kurz et al. 2009, Stinson et al. 2011, Kull et al. 2011, Pilli et al. 2013, Zamolodchikov et al. 2013, Smyth et al. 2014, Kim et al. 2016). The CBM-CFS3 implements the Gain-Loss method of the IPCC to estimate annual GHG emissions and removals in forest ecosystem. The CBM-FHWP model receives input from the CBM-CFS3 and tracks the fate of carbon in harvested biomass converted to wood products for various categories, uses, and landfills. Finally, we also estimate substitution benefits such as GHG emission reductions obtained from the use of wood products and biomass for energy (Smyth et al. 2016).

2.2.1. Spatial framework

In Mexico, past implementation of the Canadian Carbon Budget Model (CBM-CFS3) has used a national-scale framework of 94 spatial units (SPU) which results from the intersection of the 32 federal states and 7 ecoregions of the North American Ecoregions Level 1 (Olguín *et al.* 2011, 2015). This approach allows for the integration of inputs with different spatial resolutions within one assessment framework (Kurz *et al.* 2009) following the spatially-referenced approach (Reporting Method 1) of the IPCC (2006). In

6

this study, we used the same spatial approach, comprising 4 ecoregions for DGO and 2 for QROO (Figure 2). Together, these SPUs contain about 14% of the forest land in Mexico (INEGI 2011).



Figure 2. Distribution of the 6 Spatial Units resulted from the intersections of North American Ecoregions-Level I polygons (in colors) and Mexican states boundaries (in black) selected as pilot areas for Mexico: four in Durango and two in Quintana Roo.

To better characterize key drivers of change within each SPU, we included more detailed information on: *i) Ecoregions level IV* (e.g., detailed ecological variables such as climate, topography, and vegetation types) (CEC 1997); *ii) forest classes and other vegetation types* from Land-Use/Land-Cover maps published by the National Institute of Statistics and Geography of Mexico (INEGI 1993, 2002, 2007, 2011) reclassified into five forest types and five non-forest/other type classes (Table 1), harmonized with IPCC Land-Use categories, Mexico's Biennial Update Report (BUR) (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015) and MAD-Mex system labels (Monitoring Activity Data for the Mexican REDD+ program, Gebhardt *et al.* 2015); *iii) regulated silvicultural activities* (e.g. spatial information regarding areas with natural forests and plantations); *iv) conservation practices*, including protected areas (federal, state and municipal), environmental services payment areas, wildlife management units, from spatial databases available

from the National Commission for Forestry (CONAFOR), the National Commission for Protected Areas (CONANP) and the Secretariat of Environment and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT) (CEC 2010); *v) early actions for REDD*+ (CONAFOR 2015); and *vi) municipal boundaries* (INEGI 2016).

Table 1.Classification scheme for INEGI's Land Use/Land Cover labels into general classes used in this study, harmonized according to IPCC, Biennial Update Report (BUR) and Monitoring Activity Data for the Mexican REDD+ program (MAD-Mex) categories.

IPCC Land-Use categories	This study (MAD-Mex labels, Gebhardt <i>et al</i> . 2014)	BUR classes (INECC- SEMARNAT 2015)	INEGI classification codes (INEGI 2015c)
	Coniferous	Coniferous forests	BA, BB, BJ, BP, BPQ, BS, MJ
Forest lands	Broadleaf	Oak forest, cultivated forest, woody vegetation (special others)	BQ, BQP, BC, MK, BM
	Tropical Humid	Cloud forest, evergreen tropical forest, woody vegetation (hydric)	SAP, SAQ, SBP, SBQ, SBQP, SMP, SMQ, BG, SG, PT, VM
	Tropical Dry	Tropical deciduos/ semi-deciduos forest	MKE, MST, SBC, SBK, SMC, SBS, SMS
	Other vegetation	Woody vegetation (special others, xeric scrubs, and hydric)	BI, VPI, VPN, MC, MET, MKX, MRC, MSC, MSCC, MSN, ML, MSM, VG
Grasslands	Grasslands	Grasslands, non-woody vegetation (xeric scrubs, special others, and hydric)	PC, PH, PI, PN, PY, VS, VSI, VW, MDM, MDR, VD, VH, VY, VU, VHH, VA, VT
Agricultural lands	Agricultural lands	Agricultural lands	HA, HAP, HAS, HP, HS, HSP, RA, RAP, RAS, RP, RS, RSP, TA, TAP, TAS, TP, TS, TSP
Wetlands	Wetlands	Wetlands	ACUI, H20
Settlements	Settlements	Settlements	AH, ZU
Other lands	Other lands	Other lands	ADV, DV

2.2.2. Forest ecosystem dynamics for Mexico

The CBM-CFS3 combines information from forest inventories, growth and yield curves, and natural and/or anthropogenic disturbance events, to simulate carbon stocks and GHG fluxes associated with the IPCC's five forest carbon pools (above and belowground biomass, dead wood, litter and soil), at both the stand and landscape level. For yield tables, we compiled and processed information from Mexico's National Forest and Soil Inventory (INFYS) to define forest growth dynamics and the age class structure at the start of the simulation. The INFYS is comprised of a network of about 26,000 permanent monitoring plots (each having four circular subplots of 400 m²) systematically established throughout the country by CONAFOR, between 2004 and 2007 and remeasured from 2009-2013 (CONAFOR 2012).

To generate merchantable volume and biomass growth curves, we first identified all plots available from the national database for measurements at time 1 (T1), and remeasurements (T2), that shared the same ecoregion level IV identification present in the two selected states. This stratification criterion allowed us to ensure having enough plots to conduct the growth analysis, regardless of political boundaries (Figure 3). We then selected those plots that had the same forest cover type at T1 and T2, with no missing information (four subplots by plot), and extracted live tree biomass information in both periods (Forest land remaining Forest land; FL-FL).



Figure 3. Example of INFYS plots selection for growth curves in QROO, using information on (a) ecoregion level IV (Tropical Dry in red, Tropical Humid in purple, Temperate Sierras in green), (b) plot locations (dots) and number of plots measured and re-measured, and (c) permanent forest cover (green color with different forest cover types in various shades of green).

A growth curve simulation routine was created by Gregorio Ángeles (*pers. comm.*) to use biomass or volume increment data and the time between INFYS plot measurements to estimate growth curves using a Maximum Likelihood Estimation routine. The simulation uses INFYS plot information at T1 and T2 for biomass/volume to calculate an increment and the time between measurements to place them along a growth curve of the form:

 $biomass = a(1 - e^{-b(age+c)})$

Equation 1

Where parameters a, b, and c are scalars that define the shape of the curve.

The process iteratively places these T1 to T2 biomass/volume increments and the time step between them, along the growth curve function to estimate the most likely parameters of the curve that fit the input data. We excluded from this analysis those forest plots that showed changes in carbon due to disturbances.

The process requires the estimation of the log-likelihood function that uses a generalized forest growth model determined from data in the United States Forest Inventory and Analysis program where the biomass/volume and age information is known (USDA Forest Service 2011). The input data are assumed to belong to a cohort of stands of the same forest type that grow similarly to forests of Mexico. The simulation routine does not explicitly output the values of the a, b and c parameters. It outputs age vs. biomass estimates at user-defined intervals (e.g. every 10 years) to a user-defined maximum age (e.g. 150 years). These output data pairs are then used as inputs to fit the growth curve equation above to obtain the values of the three parameters. Figure 4 shows the growth curves created to represent annual increments in merchantable volume (m³ ha⁻¹) of the main forest types and ecoregions in DGO and QROO.



Figure 4. Examples of growth curves created to represent annual merchantable volume accumulation (m³ ha⁻¹) of the main forest types and ecoregions in (a) DGO (i.e. ecoregion Level I "Temperate Sierras") and (b) QROO (i.e. ecoregions Level IV in "Tropical Humid").

Running this simulation requires an adequate number of data pairs to increase the likelihood of converging on a solution. In experimenting with numerous simulation runs it was established that at least 20 data pairs were needed for solution convergence on a model that was deemed realistic. We reviewed each forest type within an Ecoregion Level IV to determine if it had at least 20 data pairs. If one or more of the forest types

had less than 20 pairs, then similar types were merged first across state boundaries and, if required, also across ecoregion Level IV boundaries to increase the number of data pairs. Because the information used to label the type of forest in each cluster is derived from map data with coarse spatial resolution and themes, it was determined to include data pairs with forest sublevels in an Ecoregion that correspond to spatially more distant sites. The implicit assumption is that forests within the same Ecoregion level IV grow similarly.

The INFYS was initially not implemented as a true permanent plot design, thus, datapairs from T1 and T2 inventories do not necessarily measure the same trees, and some of the growth increments may be influenced by slight shifts in plot location. To filter out data-pairs where estimated biomass increment was likely attributable to plot shift and not growth, input data per growth curve set were examined for outliers. Biomass estimates from the input data were placed into one of three maturity classes, young, mature and old, based on biomass distributions. Once classified, data-pairs with increments within each maturity class above a certain threshold (i.e. greater than three standard deviations) were removed from the analysis.

Some plots with forest cover at T2 had lower biomass than at T1, which could be due to plot location shifts mentioned above, or due to disturbance losses from harvesting and degradation. Since forest disturbances are accounted for explicitly in the CBM-CFS3, it was important to filter the data-pairs where biomass decreases were greater than natural mortality rates. Therefore, decrements in biomass >2% annually were removed from the yield curve analysis as well.

To convert merchantable volume to total biomass data, we used default conversion parameters included in the CBM-CFS3. In the case of coniferous and oak species, we selected expansion factors that would fit best to local estimates (e.g. Vargas-Larreta *et al.* 2017). For the remaining species, we used default information included in the model (Boudewyn *et al.* 2007), as no information is available yet on biomass and volume components for Mexico. Thus, the proportion of branches, leaves and roots relative to the stem of the dominant species in tropical forests in Mexico, were assumed to be similar to generic oak.

The CBM-CFS3 requires an initial forest age-class structure for simulation. To estimate forest age distributions, Eq. 1 was inverted to produce Eq. 2. This process approximates time-since-a-stand-replacing-disturbance based on biomass values for each forest inventory plot. We recognize that this approach has many caveats. For example, forests are subject to gap dynamics disturbances that decrease the biomass content without resetting forest age to zero. The "age" distribution is applied to stands within each spatial unit and classifier set as:

$$age = -\frac{bc + \ln\left(\frac{-biomass + a}{a}\right)}{b}$$
 Equation 2

Figure 5 shows the estimated age distributions according to the estimated forest area of the two states in 2005 (the year when most of the forest inventory plots were established). From this figure, we can distinguish two main types of age class distributions: (a) relatively more even distribution of pine and broadleaf forests of DGO, and (b) a left-shifted distribution for semi evergreen tropical forest in QROO. In QROO, most forest stands are in the 0 to 30 year-old age class because forests are cleared relatively frequently under shifting cultivation systems or are affected frequently by other disturbances such as hurricanes and fires (Urquiza *et al.* 2007, Ellis *et al.* 2015).



Figure 5. Estimated forest age classes distribution (in Mha) in the dominant forests in (a) DGO (i.e. ecoregion Level I Temperate Sierras) and (b) QROO (i.e. ecoregions Level IV in Tropical Humid).

Finally, in accordance with IPCC guidelines (IPCC 2006), the CBM-CFS3 represents carbon dynamics in dead organic matter (dead wood and litter) and soil carbon pools by

explicitly linking these with changes in the above- and belowground biomass pools (e.g. transfers from annual processes such as litterfall and root turnover, natural mortality and disturbance events). In Mexico, analyses from INFYS plots provide estimates of the carbon content in each of the five pools, but there is little information on carbon transfers to dead organic matter and soil carbon. Thus, we used default values in the CBM-CFS3 on litterfall rates and base decomposition rates at a reference Mean Annual Temperature (MAT) of 10 °C, that were most appropriate for the selected forest types. Decomposition rates were then adjusted to actual MAT using the approach described in Kurz *et al.* (2009). Information from a national-scale mean annual temperature map (García 1998) was combined with the SPU map to estimate the dead organic matter decomposition rates used in the model with regional annual average temperature values.

Activity Data

Land-use/Land-cover (LULC) changes. We used national-scale land-cover and landuse maps for 1993, 2002, 2007 and 2011 from INEGI and intersected these maps to derive information on: deforestation (conversion of forest lands to other non-forest lands) and forest recovery events (conversion of non-forest land to forest land, mainly due to abandonment of agricultural lands). We divided total change over the observation period by the number of years in the interval to generate annualized land-use changes from 1993 to 2010. This method is currently used by CONAFOR to estimate LULC changes for GHG reporting, since there are no other national-scale products available to obtain land-use change estimates. We restricted deforestation and forest recovery events to areas outside of polygons associated with silvicultural activities.

Table 2 shows an example of a LULC change matrix for the states of QROO and DGO, for the intervals 2002 to 2007 and 2007 to 2011. The area in the matrices only shows the LULC change dynamics of the "Temperate Sierras" and "Tropical Dry Forests" ecoregions level 1 of DGO (together they contain 96% of the total forest land of the state). In QROO, all ecoregions level IV within "Tropical Humid Forests" were included in the analysis except "Wetlands" (mostly mangrove forests) because the model does not simulate carbon dynamics in wetlands.

Table 2. Example of a Land-Use/Land-Cover (LULC) change matrix for the States of (a) DGO (only Temperate Sierras and Tropical Dry Forests ecoregions) and (b) QROO (excluding Wetlands within Temperate Humid Forests ecoregion), using reclassified INEGI LULC maps for years 2002 to 2007 and 2007 to 2011. Cells in red represent forest land change to non-forest, in green color changes from a non-forest class to forest land, remaining cells total forest cover without change (e.g. transitions to other forest types or losses/gains of other vegetation types). All areas are in ha.

(a)	D	G	O
۰.	ч,	~	\sim	~

1-1											
	То 2007										
From 2002	o	Dana alla a f	Tropical	Tropical	Other	Other Country to A	A gui o ulture o	Human	Other	Water	Cum
From 2002	Confierous	Broadlear	humid	dry	vegetation	Grassianus	Agriculture	settlements	lands	bodies	Sum
Coniferous	3,549,972	24,282		5,275		13,271	19,913	92			3,612,805
Broadleaf	17,164	1,323,563	41	44,520	3,923	11,805	5,669				1,406,685
Tropical humid			492								492
Tropical dry	2,461	3,613	5	548,544	907	735	6,310		153		562,728
Other vegetation					51,458	71	415	198			52,143
Grasslands	8,900	6,617		2,296	13	432,683	10,490	348			461,347
Agriculture	2,187	811	5	259	118	4,672	194,999	1,625			204,677
Human settlements							5	7,861			7,866
Water bodies										1,480	1,480
Sum	3,580,685	1,358,885	544	600,894	56,419	463,237	237,802	10,124	153	1,480	6,310,223

	То 2011										
From 2007	Coniforous	Broadloaf	Tropical	Tropical	Other	Cracelande Agricultura	Human	Other	Water	C	
From 2007	connerous	BIOauleai	humid	dry	vegetation	Grassiarius	Agriculture	settlements	lands	bodies	Sum
Coniferous	3,568,223	9,405				1,165	1,868	24			3,580,685
Broadleaf	854	1,356,082		106		543	1,300				1,358,885
Tropical humid			544								544
Tropical dry		85		599,015		20	1,775				600,894
Other vegetation		4,775			51,644						56,419
Grasslands	2,060	419		16		456,450	3,861	37		394	463,237
Agriculture	198	1,083		277		84	236,148			13	237,802
Human settlements							20	10,104			10,124
Other lands									153		153
Water bodies										1,480	1,480
Sum	3,571,335	1,371,848	544	599,414	51,644	458,261	244,971	10,166	153	1,887	6,310,223

(b) QROO

					To 2007					
From 2002	Broadleaf	Tropical Humid	Tropical Dry	Other vegetation	Grasslands	Agriculture	Human settlements	Other lands	Water bodies	Sum
Broadleaf	457									457
Tropical Humid		2,905,387	4,489		29,374	33,977	15,756	68		2,989,051
Tropical Dry		1,026	261,623		1,828	6,007	266			270,750
Other vegetation				6,286		202				6,488
Grasslands		12,200	1,017		129,504	1,206	532	21		144,480
Agriculture		6,406	47		2,052	92,983	627			102,115
Human settlements		199					20,307			20,505
Other lands		202				87		2,521		2,810
Water bodies		20			22	57			9,832	9,931
Sum	457	2,925,440	267,176	6,286	162,779	134,520	37,487	2,610	9,832	3,546,587

					To 2011					
From 2007	Broadleaf	Tropical	Tropical	Other	Grasslands	Agriculture	Human	Other lands	Water	Sum
110111 2007	Humid Dry vegetation	Agriculture	settlements	other lands	bodies	5411				
Broadleaf	180					277				457
Tropical Humid		2,869,007	2,580		25,784	19,618	7,882	467	101	2,925,440
Tropical Dry	78	12,645	243,727		1,253	8,781	692			267,176
Other vegetation		72		6,033		182				6,286
Grasslands		30,644	446	367	126,154	4,078	1,047	43		162,779
Agriculture		17,241	4,478	192	3,388	109,059	162			134,520
Human settlements		771	12			73	36,445	186		37,487
Other lands		102					85	2,423		2,610
Water bodies		27			9				9,796	9,832
Sum	258	2,930,509	251,242	6,593	156,587	142,068	46,313	3,120	9,897	3,546,587

From the change matrices, we observe that total forest land area in both periods equals 5.5 Mha in DGO (88% of the total area) and 3.2 Mha in QROO (90% of the total area). The remaining areas are predominately agriculture and grasslands. The magnitude of the LULC change varied greatly among the states, but there was always more gross deforestation relative to gross forest recovery resulting in net forest cover loss. The cause of some forest land cover changes could not always be identified because of potential error in the polygon labeling or an error in spatial boundaries of the polygons. Thus, we classified these as 'unchanged' and included them as part of the forestland remaining as forestland category. It is likely that the same problem may have occurred among non-forest categories. Because there are many challenges in estimating area changes from the intersection of land-cover maps (Olofsson *et al.* 2013), we conducted additional simulations to understand the sensitivity on emissions estimates if deforestation rates and forest recovery rates were underestimated (see section 2.4).

The IPCC requires that carbon fluxes are reported according to six land-use categories: Forest land, Cropland, Grassland, Wetland, Settlements, and Other land (IPCC 2003). In the case of Forest Land (FL), this category was divided into coniferous, broadleaf, tropical humid, and tropical dry. However, there was limited information available to conduct a more detailed analysis of carbon dynamics in non-forest land categories and thus, we grouped them into the Other Land (OL) category. Although we did not simulate activities on this land, we included it to ensure area consistency in the simulations and to track the GHG emissions due to deforestation events (IPCC 2006).

Harvests. Information on the amount of industrial roundwood harvested (in m³) per forest type was compiled from annual reports at the municipal level from 1991 to 2014 (INEGI 2015a, 2015b). We used maps provided by CONAFOR on managed areas to delimit the forest areas eligible for harvest events (~850 K ha of forests in DGO and 500 K ha in QROO). However, there was no additional information on the areas by year which were affected by management practices (e.g. thinning, harvests). Forest management systems in most tropical and temperate forests in Mexico consist of selective cuts of uneven-aged forests (Torres-Rojo *et al.* 2016), thus we randomly selected forest stands of at least 25 years and removed biomass C using a percentage of harvest utilization reported for commercial species in Mexico (Fuentes *et al.* 2012).

15

Table 3 summarizes information on average values of the merchantable round wood authorized and harvested from 2005 to 2014 according to the last ten years of data available in annual reports published at the municipal and state levels. Information was compiled for CBM-CFS3 modeling parameters including: percentages of stand-eligibility to harvest, assuming that the rest of the stand-biomass continues to grow; and harvest utilization rates, which determine logging residues such as unused merchantable carbon, as well as tops, branches, foliage, etc., that are left on site to decompose. Information compiled on harvested wood products included mill efficiency rate (percentage of round wood to produce wood products) and mill residue treatment (Fuentes *et al.* 2012, Galicia *pers. comm.*). To ensure consistency between the state-level estimates and those generated by CBM-CFS3 and then transferred to CBM-FHWP, we converted to units of carbon the reported figures of merchantable harvests in m³ and added a percentage (10-20%) for bark.

	DG	0	QRO	0
Average authorized round wood harvest, from 2005-2014 (1000 m ³) ^a	2,4	17	182	
Forest species types	Coniferous	Broadleaf	High value	Common
Average harvested round wood (without bark), from 2005-2014 (1000 m ³) ^b	1,532	188	6	34
Percentage bark (%)°	18	20	10	10
Volume to biomass conversion (g / cm ³) ^d	0.41	0.58	0.44	0.66
Carbon fraction	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Eligible merchantable biomass to harvest per forest stand (%) ^d	90	73	77	77
Utilization rate (commercial harvest with salvage; %) ^d	82	65	56	49
Percentage of round wood to produce a product (%) ^d	59	47	51	47
Percentage of mill residues relative to sawdust in mill wasted	80	81	69	74
Percentage of mill residues burned relative to send to landfill (%)	50	50	50	50

Table 3. Average values used to track carbon dynamics in forest ecosystem and harvested wood products components in the selected states by dominant commercial species type.

^a State-level reports (e.g. SEMARNAT 2014)

^bMunicipal-level reports (e.g. INEGI 2015a, 2015b)

^cKiernan and Freese 1997, Wehenkel et al 2012, O'Connell et al 2014

^d Fuentes *et al.* 2012

Fires. We compiled and analyzed municipal-level statistics on area burned by strata (trees/seedlings, scrubland, herbaceous/grasslands) from 1991 to 2016 (CONAFOR 2017). From the analysis of this historic record, most fire events were categorized as surface fires. Based on the analysis of the fire data corresponding to the two states, fires that affect the tree stratum are not as frequent as surface fires (predominantly due to human-caused ignition; Rodríguez 2008). Thus, all fire events were assumed as surface fires. The compiled information does not provide any explicit geographic location of the area burned so, for simplicity, we assumed that any forest stand could be affected by surface fires, but that these could only consume some small trees, foliage and surface litter.

Disturbance matrices

To represent the direct impacts of each disturbance type on carbon stocks and stock changes, the CBM-CFS3 uses disturbance matrices to quantify carbon transfers among carbon pools in the forest ecosystem, between these pools and the atmosphere, and transfers to the forest product sector (Kurz *et al.* 2009, Kull *et al.* 2011). These matrices contain information about each of the 22 ecosystem carbon pools included in the model to represent carbon transfers dynamics in more detail, though these can easily be grouped into the five IPCC carbon pools. Disturbance matrices for deforestation and forest recovery disturbance matrix was created to represent non-stand replacing fire events that resemble a "surface-fire" for which some small trees, foliage and surface litter are consumed by the fire but overstory trees are not killed. An additional disturbance matrix representing crown fires could be added in the future to assess their relative contribution in terms of the total CO_2e emissions. However, this would require better data on the proportion of area burned by crown fires.

Table 4 shows the specific parameters corresponding to carbon transfers among pools or out of the ecosystem (to the atmosphere or to the forest products sector) corresponding to fires and deforestation. For forest recovery events in which non-forest land converts back to forest land (not shown), the disturbance matrix does not redistribute carbon and only annual processes such as forest growth and natural mortality occur.

17

Table 4. Examples of disturbance matrices to account for carbon transfers among forest carbon pools and between these and the atmosphere due to: (a) surface fire events and (b) deforestation events which are assumed to consume 20% of the small trees and foliage, and transfer dead standing trees and their branches to the ground.

1	`
10	ונ
۱c	J
· ·	

Surface fire			-	То			
	Remains in	Medium	AGF	At	mosphe	re	Cum
From	same C pool	DOM	DOM	CO ₂	CH_4	CO	Sum
SW/HW foliage	0.8			0.18	0.002	0.018	1
SW/HW other	0.8			0.18	0.002	0.018	1
AGVF DOM	0.2			0.72	0.008	0.072	1
AGF DOM	0.6			0.36	0.004	0.036	1
SW/HW branch snag	0.5	0.5					1
SW/HW stem snag	0.5		0.5				1

(b)

	-								
Deforestation					То				
	Remains in	Medium	AGF	BGF	A	tmosphe	re	Draduata	Curra
From	same C pool	DOM	DOM	DOM	CO ₂	CH_4	CO	Products	Sum
SW/HW merch		0.13			0.063	0.0007	0.0063	0.8	1
SW/HW foliage				0.6	0.36	0.004	0.036		1
SW/HW other			0.6		0.36	0.004	0.036		1
SW/HW submerch			0.75		0.225	0.0025	0.0225		1
SW/HW coarse roots			0.6		0.36	0.004	0.036		1
SW/HW fine roots				0.65	0.315	0.0035	0.0315		1
AGVF DOM				0.3	0.63	0.007	0.063		1
AGF DOM			0.3		0.63	0.007	0.063		1
BGF DOM	0.3				0.63	0.007	0.063		1
Medium DOM	0.65				0.315	0.0035	0.0315		1
SW/HW branch snag			0.3		0.63	0.007	0.063		1
SW/HW stem snag		0.65			0.315	0.0035	0.0315		1

*HW: Hardwood species; SW: Softwood species; Merch (live stemwood of merchantable size plus bark), DOM: Dead Organic Matter, Medium DOM (coarse woody debris on the ground), AGF: Aboveground Fast DOM (fine and small woody debris plus dead coarse roots in the forest floor, ca. \leq 5 mm and ,75 mm diameter), Aboveground Very Fast DOM (foliar litter plus dead fine roots of ca. <5 mm diameter), Belowground Very Fast DOM (dead fine roots in the mineral soil of ca. \leq 5 mm diameter). Source: modified after Kurz *et al.* (2009).

Harvested wood products and displacement factors

We used state-level statistics on the production of broad categories of wood commodities that are used in the CBM-FHWP model. These categories include sawn wood production ("*escuadría y durmientes*"), wood panels ("*chapa y triplay*"), paper, pulp and particleboard ("*celulósicos y tableros*"), and other industrial roundwood ("*postes, pilotes y morillos*"). Following the production approach for GHG emissions reporting (IPCC 2006), we compiled information from annual exports of wood commodities at the country level from SEMARNAT (there are no official data published at municipal or state-level). In the case of product and landfill half-life values, we used Tier 1 IPCC values (IPCC 2003) as described by Smyth *et al.* 2014. For example, for sawn wood and other solid wood we used 35 years, for panels 25 years, and for pulp and paper 2 years. We assumed that 50% of the product-end-of-life was directed to landfills and 50% burned (Germánico Galicia *pers. comm.*). Landfill half-lives were estimated also as described in Smyth *et al.* 2014.

To estimate the potential mitigation benefit from the use of forest biomass in the energy and product sectors, we applied published displacement factors and multiplied these by the change in the amount of biomass used. A displacement factor indicates the number of units of carbon emissions reduced per unit of wood carbon used. Thus, the resulting efficiency in avoided emissions (substitution benefit) depends on the reference system where wood will be utilized (e.g. construction, housing, energy). For example, we used the following displacement factors in our simulation scenarios: 0.89 MgC/MgC for bioenergy (e.g. from mill residue), 0.54 or 2 MgC/MgC for sawn wood and 0.45 or 2 for wood panels (Sathre and O'Connor 2010; Smyth *et al.* 2014, 2016). The values for wood products are conservative, considering the results from a meta-analysis conducted by Sathre and O'Connor (2010) based on 21 studies over a range of product substitutions (metals, minerals and plastics), reported that on average one Mg C of wood product substitutes 2.1 Mg C of non-wood products. Most of the values for displacement factors ranged between 1 to 3 MgC/MgC.

2.3. Simulation scenarios

We constructed a business as usual (BAU) baseline scenario and 4 mitigation scenarios (with 2 sub-scenarios). The BAU baseline scenario estimates the GHG fluxes if forest management and disturbance rates observed in the past continue into the future (2018 to 2050). We use the average annual gross rates from the last 10-year period of available activity data for land-use change (LUC) (2000-2010), harvests (2005-2014) and area burned (2007-2016). Net ecosystem CO₂e balances for the two states were generated as the sum of all GHG emissions and removals corresponding to carbon transfers in above- and belowground biomass, dead wood, litter and mineral soil forest carbon pools. We also estimated the net emissions from Harvested Wood Products (HWP) production and use under a BAU scenario. We assumed that, in the BAU, changes in policies will not occur and changes in forest carbon cycling due to climate change will be negligible.

We modeled four forest carbon mitigation scenarios, and combined these with two subscenarios for the HWP and substitution components (Table 5). Specifically, we estimated the biophysical mitigation potential (relative to BAU) if, by 2030, the following activities are implemented: (M1) net zero deforestation rate (conversion of forest lands to other non-forest lands equals to conversion from non-forest lands to forest lands), (M2) M1 plus increased net forest recovery rate, and (M3) increased forest productivity and timber production. For M3, we examined four sub-scenarios resulting from changes in the HWP component if (i) forest commodity proportions are the same as in BAU or (ii) the increased harvest volume goes entirely to long-lived products (LLP). We analyzed the effect of avoiding GHG emissions from more emissions-intensive materials (substitution benefit) using low (iii) and medium (iv) displacement factor values published in the literature (Sathre and O'Connor 2010; Smyth *et al.* 2014). The last scenario (M4), combines all the activities (M2 and M3, including sub-scenarios). In all cases, we simulated a linear transition from BAU in 2018 to the full implementation of the mitigation actions in 2030.

Net GHG emissions in all scenarios were calculated as the net sum of the GHG fluxes in the forest ecosystem, HWPs and substitution benefit components. To assess the mitigation potential of the proposed strategies, we subtracted from each mitigation scenario the net GHG emissions of BAU at the state level, and report both annual and

20

cumulative emission reductions to 2030 and 2050. Finally, because BAU and all scenarios used the same historic information regarding forest characteristics (e.g. forest cover, age-class distribution and disturbances) and HWP assumptions (e.g. end-of-life treatment and decay), net emissions before 2018 were identical and thus their difference with BAU is zero (no-legacy effects).

Table 5. Summary of the four mitigation strategies and sub-scenarios (relative to
business as usual – BAU) for the forest ecosystem (FE), Harvested wood products
(HWP) and Substitution benefit (SB) components, in Durango (DGO) and
Quintana Roo (QROO).

Strategy name	Description	Parameter changed	Parameter value
M1. Net zero- deforestation	<u>FE:</u> Gradually reduce gross deforestation rate until in 2030 equals to gross recovery rate. It excludes forests within managed areas.	New gross deforestation rate (Kha yr ⁻¹ , % reduction from BAU) DGO QROO	3,746 (-49%) 7,661 (-53%)
M2. Increased net forest recovery rate	<u>FE:</u> Same gross deforestation rate as in M1, but 10% more forest recovery rate from more intensified practices in non-forest lands.	New gross forest recovery rate (Kha yr ⁻¹ , % increased from BAU) DGO QROO	375 (+10%) 766 (+10%)
M3. Better growth + more harvest + more HWPs with substitution benefits	<u>FE:</u> Increased productivity and production in forests over a 50- years rotation cycle, from improved thinnings, road infrastructure, fire and pest	Forest area affected (ha) ^a DGO QROO Additional annual harvest (t C	3,576,086 507,429
(4 sub-scenarios)	<u>HWP:</u> (<i>i</i>) More carbon transferred but same proportion of commodities as in BAU or (<i>ii</i>) 100% of increased harvest goes to longer-lived products	JI ⁻ , ⁷⁰) DGO QROO Additional growth (m ³ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) ^b In sub-scenario (<i>ii</i>), sawn wood component changes in percentages points relative to BAU:	218,025 (+50%) 6,788 (+50%) 2.7
	(LLP) <u>SB:</u> (<i>iii</i>) Low substitution benefit for wood products or (<i>iv</i>) medium substitution benefit	DGO QROO Displacement factor for sawn	+9% +7%
		Low (t C avoided / t C used) Medium (t C avoided / t C used)	0.54-0.45 2
M4. All forest strategies + more HWPs with substitution benefits	M2 and M3 combined (including sub-scenarios)	M2 and M3 combined (including sub-scenarios)	

^a Managed areas map provided by CONAFOR and intersected with INEGI's Land-use/Land-cover map, year 2011, reclassified into broad forest categories harmonized with Mexico's Biennial Update Report (see SI).

^b Increased growth was modeled from two measurement cycles from National Forest Inventory.

2.4. Land-Use Change (LUC) analysis

We compared the impacts of changes in deforestation with changes in forest recovery rates (holding other input variables constant), on the outcome and rank order of mitigation scenarios. The relatively coarse spatial and temporal resolution in the available land-use/land-cover maps (i.e. 4- to 9-year periods, 25 ha minimum mapping unit) could lead to the underestimation of gross deforestation rates. Moreover, reducing net deforestation is among Mexico's stated forest strategies (UNFCCC 2015) and is expected to provide short-term benefits from national and international REDD+ programs. Thus, as a sensitivity analysis, gross deforestation rates were doubled and gross forest recovery rates increased such that the net deforestation rate remains the same in BAU and in mitigation scenarios to assess the possible impact of underestimating the conversion of forest land to other land uses.

Chapter 3. Results

3.1. Historic and baseline emissions

3.1.1. Activity data

Land Use Change (LUC). The historic and projected deforestation and forest recovery areas for the period 2000 to 2050 are shown in Figure 6a for DGO (left) and QROO (right). In the historic period, rates of deforestation in DGO are low but variable, while forest recovery remained at a relatively stable rate. In QROO, the deforestation rate was relatively constant while forest recovery was more variable and both rates were much higher than in DGO.

Fires. The municipal level data on area burned are highly variable in both states. DGO has a minimum annual area burned of 615 ha yr⁻¹ and a maximum of 51,755 ha yr⁻¹. The mean of 18,711 ha yr⁻¹ is projected into the future for the baseline, despite the high standard deviation (\pm 17,230 ha yr⁻¹). QROO had corresponding values for a minimum of 447 ha yr⁻¹, a maximum of 79,161 ha yr⁻¹, a mean of 18,083 ha yr⁻¹, with a standard deviation of \pm 22,077 ha yr⁻¹ (Figure 6a).

Harvests. Harvest rates in DGO are almost an order of magnitude greater than in QROO (Figure 6a). DGO produces nearly 1/3 of all harvested wood (mean 436,051 Mg C yr⁻¹) recorded in Mexico's national statistics with the variability in production driven by economic conditions (SEMARNAT 2014).

3.1.2. Emissions

Both states were net carbon sinks throughout the period of analysis (Figure 6b): 2000 to 2050. QROO was a sink of -14.1 Tg CO_2e yr⁻¹ compared to -7.96 Tg CO_2e yr⁻¹ for DGO. The contribution of different land categories varies with the strongest sink in forest land which remains as forest land (FLFL).

Net GHG emissions in FLFL respond to 1) forest age structure, which drives overall uptake rates by forest type, 2) emissions from forest fires and harvests, and 3) changes in forest area. Both states are strong sinks in the historic period (2000 to 2016), -9.7 and

-17.7 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹ in DGO and QROO, respectively. The sink strength in both states decreases over time in the baseline estimates (2017 to 2050) due to forest ageing and continuous reduction in forest area; in DGO from -8.7 Tg CO₂e in 2017 to -6.1Tg CO₂e in 2050 and QROO from -15.9 Tg CO₂e in 2017 to -8.0 Tg CO₂e in 2050. The faster growing, relatively younger forests of QROO are a stronger sink during the historic period and at the beginning of the baseline, but they decrease to the sink strength of the forests in DGO by 2050. The variability seen in the historic period arises from variable incidence of disturbances, with troughs in sink strength corresponding to years with high incidence of fires and harvests. This variability is removed in the projections because we use average annual fire and harvest rates in the BAU scenario (Figure 6b).



Figure 6. Annual CO₂e balance in the states of DGO (left column) and QROO (right column) for the historic (2000-2017) and Business as Usual (2018-2050) periods. Panel (a) shows by land-use category GHG emissions and removals, which are affected by disturbance events shown in panel (b). Note that the scale of the Y axis for merchantable harvest in panel (b) is different for both states. FLFL: Forest land remaining Forest land, OLOL: Non-forest lands remaining non-forest lands, FLOL: Forest land converted to non-forest lands, OLFL: Non-forest lands converted to forest land.

For forest land converted to other land (FLOL) during the historic period, emissions vary with the gross deforestation rates. FLOL emissions throughout the historic and baseline periods in DGO are low (1.51 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) compared to QROO (5.91 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹). Both states show increasing emissions as more lands are deforested towards the end of the BAU period. The CBM-CFS3 simulates decay of wood residues over time and thus emissions increase as cumulative FLOL area increases. Forest recovery (OLFL) contributes a weak sink in DGO (-0.381 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) and QROO (-1.57 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) strengthening slightly over time as recovered forest area is added. Non-forest land (OLOL) emissions are shown here for completeness and represent small emissions on lands deforested more than 20 years ago. This analysis does not include emissions from management of non-forest lands.

3.2. Mitigation

The cumulative mitigation benefits are summarized for forest, HWP and substitution (Figure 7). Negative values represent an actual mitigation benefit, while positive numbers represent an increase in emissions, or "negative mitigation benefit" with respect to the BAU scenario. In both states scenario M2 (net zero deforestation rate plus a 10% increase in net forest recovery rate by 2030) achieves the greatest emissions reductions in 2050 with a cumulative mitigation benefit of -24.4 Tg CO₂e in DGO and -110.9 Tg CO₂e in QROO. The average annual benefit varies by decade for the different mitigation scenarios (Table 6). For both states, scenario M2 continues to provide the most benefit in terms of emissions reductions, however the rankings of other scenarios vary over time.

The relative contribution of each component in the systems approach varies among scenarios and in 2030 and 2050 (Figure 8). Reduction in deforestation rates has the greatest impact on forest ecosystems, with much larger impacts in QROO than DGO. In the two states, increases in harvest rates by 50% (half the national goal) reduce forest carbon stocks and the resulting emissions are only partly off-set by carbon storage in HWP or substitution benefits from energy and product substitution, thus leading to net increases in emissions.

Mitigation strategies			Durango		Quintana Roo		
		А	В	С	А	В	С
M1. Net 0 deforestation rate		-0.46	-0.85	-0.98	-2.14	-3.88	-4.55
M2. ↑net forest rec	M2. ↑net forest recovery rate		-0.88	-1.03	-2.24	-4.03	-4.75
M3. ↑growth and ↑harvest	(i) + Low DF	1.12	1.62	1.49	-0.001	0.19	0.23
	(ii) + Low DF	0.95	1.31	1.16	-0.01	0.18	0.22
	(i) + Medium DF	0.83	1.16	1.03	-0.01	0.17	0.21
	(ii) + Medium DF	0.31	0.33	0.18	-0.03	0.14	0.18
	(i) + Low DF	0.67	0.72	0.49	-2.13	-3.87	-4.52
M4. All forest strategies	(ii) + Low DF	0.50	0.42	0.17	-2.14	-3.88	-4.53
	(i) + Medium DF	0.38	0.27	0.04	-2.14	-3.89	-4.53
	(ii) + Medium DF	-0.14	-0.56	-0.81	-2.16	-3.92	-4.57

Table 6. Average annual mitigation (TgCO₂e yr⁻¹) by decadal range: 2021-2030 (A), 2031-2040 (B), and 2041-2050 (C), for each scenario and sub-scenario.

Notes: (i) More carbon transferred but same proportion of commodities as in BAU, (ii) 100% of increased harvest goes to longer-lived products (LLP)



Figure 7. Cumulative mitigation for four scenarios (with sub-scenarios) in the states of DGO (left column) and QROO (right column) by component: (a) Forests, (b) HWP, (c) displacement and (d) the total cumulative mitigation.





Chapter 4. Discussion

4.1. Mitigation potential by scenario

In both states, the best mitigation scenario by 2050 is increased net forest recovery rate (net zero deforestation plus 10% increase in recovery): the M2 scenario. This reduces cumulative emissions by -24 TgCO₂e in DGO and -111 TgCO₂e in QROO. The greatest contribution within this scenario is achieved through a ~50% reduction in gross deforestation rates relative to BAU, the same annual reduction reached in the net zero deforestation rate (M1 scenario). Thus, both M1 and M2 scenarios gave DGO a cumulative net emissions reduction of 2% in 2030 and 7% and 8%, respectively in 2050 (Figure 8(b)). In QROO, the emissions reduction was 6% in M1 and M2 scenarios in 2030, and 23% and 24% respectively in 2050 (Figure 8(d)). The more than threefold mitigation potential in 2050 of QROO compared to DGO is because of QROO's higher baseline rates of gross deforestation and forest recovery (Table 2), the more rapid carbon accumulation rates and higher forest carbon density (Figure 4, Table 8).

Increasing forest productivity combined with increasing harvest rates always yields a negative mitigation outcome in the forest component because the increased C uptake is more than offset by more significant increase in harvest of C relative to BAU (Figure 7b). Despite the long history of silvicultural activities in both states, managed forest area in QROO is relatively small and contributes only 0.6% to Mexico's annual harvest. Thus, the carbon loss from increasing harvest rates is quite small in the M3 and M4 scenarios (Figure 8d). In contrast in DGO, where more than half of the forest area is under silvicultural management, the carbon loss from harvesting 50% more and using the lower displacement factor (0.5 MgC/ MgC), generates 14% more CO₂e emissions by 2050 relative to BAU (Figure 8b). The cumulative mitigation benefit becomes positive only when the increased harvest rate is combined with higher forest recovery rates as in M4 scenario, and all the extra carbon transferred to HWPs goes to sawn wood and we assume a displacement factor of 2 MgC/ MgC. This results in the second-best mitigation strategy for DGO, with a 4% emissions reduction relative to BAU (Figure 8b). Finally, the carbon losses in the M3 scenario decreases towards the end of the simulation (Table 6). Had we assumed a full implementation of this strategy earlier in the simulation cycle (increasing the number of harvest cycles of relatively fast-growing forest) the mitigation

29

potential would have increased. These results show that the assumed increase in productivity that can be achieved does not offset potential C stock reductions resulting from increased harvest rates. While increases in forest productivity through forest management can be achieved, to maintain C stocks, the overall rates of harvests need to be selected carefully if increasing C stocks is also a goal.

4.2. LUC analysis

The land-use change maps used in this study are based on change assessment over multi-year periods. However, given the length of the observation period and the high rates of forest growth, some areas may have been subject to forest cover loss and regrowth between observations. For example, Urquiza *et a*l. (2007) and Lawrence and Foster (2002) report that basal area of secondary forest stands (~25 years old) in QROO, already had reached 40% of that of old-growth (>50 years old). If such disturbance/regrowth events did occur between observations, then the gross rates of land-use changes are higher than those assumed in our analyses.

New annual land-use/land-cover maps are being produced at various spatial and temporal resolutions (e.g. Hansen et al. 2013, Gebhardt et al. 2014 / MAD-Mex system) and these could be used in the future to derive better estimates of annual rates of LU/LC change. This could provide more accurate estimates of gross deforestation and forest recovery rates. Re-running the analyses for QROO using the higher gross LUC rates (but same net deforestation rate) increased the GHG emissions, reduced the size of the sink in the later years of the BAU and mitigation simulations (Figure 9a) as expected. In BAU between 2000 and 2017 the cumulative reduction in the CO₂e sink is 23 % (-46.7 TgCO₂e). However, the differences in the cumulative mitigation benefits are quite small (Figure 9b). While the available activity data (derived from relatively coarse spatial and temporal resolution) might be underestimating gross rates of LUC and therefore net CO_2 emissions, the rank order of the mitigation strategies remains unchanged. The net difference between gross deforestation rate and gross recovery rate is still 0 % in the M1 scenario, but the mitigation benefit is reduced as there are more emissions in the new BAU (e.g. -98.2 TgCO₂e in 2050). In contrast, under the M2 scenario, a 10% increase in the forest recovery rate yields a 33% mitigation benefit relative to the new BAU by 2050.

Figure 9. Comparison of BAU and scenarios M1 (net zero deforestation rate) and M2 (increased net forest recovery rate) in the forest ecosystem component of QROO, assuming gross deforestation rates were doubled and gross reforestation rates increased such that the net deforestation rate is the same in both scenarios.(a) Annual net GHG balance and (b) cumulative mitigation for M1 and M2 scenarios in the forest component.



4.3. Comparisons of model predictions and published estimates

In Mexico, state-level studies of GHG fluxes are available for the forest ecosystem component for DGO (López *et al.* 2012) and QROO (Pereira *et al.* 2010) for the periods 2005-2008 and 2005-2010 respectively. Our estimates for DGO showed a net sink (-6.5 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) while López *et al.* (2012) reported a relatively small source (0.2 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) for the same reporting period. For QROO, both estimates were a net CO₂ sink, but the size of the sink reported by Pereira *et al.* (-43.6 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹) was three times our value (-14.9 Tg CO₂e yr⁻¹). Unfortunately, due to lack of information on how those numbers were derived, we cannot determine the causes of these differences.

Growth dynamics are one of the most important drivers of overall emissions estimates within the CBM-CFS3. According to our analysis of growth rates at the ecoregion-level, current annual increment in the Temperate Sierra of DGO averaged 0.65 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. This average was very close to the 0.66 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ reported for coniferous and broadleaf forests in the National GHG Inventory of 1990-2002 (de Jong *et al.* 2010), higher than the national averages reported in BUR (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015) or in the DGO's Strategic Forest Plan (SRNyMA 2006), which varied from 0.3 to 0.56 Mg C ha⁻¹

yr⁻¹, but were within reported range of the IPCC (2003) values of 1.5 (0.25 to 3) Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for coniferous and 2 (0.25 to 4) Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for broadleaf. Our growth rate estimate for the Tropical Humid Forests ecoregion in QROO of 1.6 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, also fell within the values reported for semi-evergreen forests in the Yucatan peninsula of 1.1 to 13.0 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Read and Lawrence 2003, Urquiza *et al.* 2007, Aryal *et al.* 2014), was the same value reported for these forests at the national level by de Jong *et al.* (2010), and within the reported range of 2 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for ≤ 20 years and 0.5 Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for > 20 years for moist forests in America (~1000 mm) by the IPCC (2003).

In general, the estimates for growth increment are within the range of reported values for these forest types in Mexico. However, for scenario M3 we assumed a 2.7 m³ yr⁻¹ average increase over 50 years, in addition to current average annual increment, to be consistent with Mexico's goal under the National strategy on sustainable forest management to increase production and productivity (ENAIPROS in Spanish, CONAFOR 2013). We also assumed that the maximum volume attainable for a stand was unchanged (Germánico Galicia *pers. comm.*) Table 7 shows that over a 50-year rotation cycle, all selected forest types present in both states could increase in their growth rates. With the assumptions above, all growth curves in DGO with the proposed rate increase reached the maximum volume allowed before 50 years. Since an overall increase in volume was not allowed, the average rate over 50 years was less than proposed rate.

Ecoregions L1	Forest types or Ecoreg. Level IV	Available INFYS plots	Current Rate	Proposed Rate	Possible Rate
DGO					
	Coniferous	1,119	0.69	1.36	1.15
Temperate Sierras	Broadleaf	713	0.57	1.24	0.88
	Tropical humid	87	0.73	1.40	1.22
QROO					
Tranical Liveria	Central Yucatan plains	1,176	1.54	2.21	2.21
Forests	Semi-evergreen plains	806	1.71	2.38	2.38
	Southern hills	1,404	1.49	2.17	2.17

Table 7. Comparison of average values of current growth rate, proposed increased rate and possible increased rate (in Mg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), by main ecoregions-forest types in both states, over a 50-years rotation cycle.

Notes: CurrentRate= average rate of growth from 0 to 50 years in m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; ProposedRate=CurrentRate+2.7 m³ ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; PossibleRate=Due to maximum volumes possible, this is the rate where the either 1) CONAFOR goal can be met (ProposedRate=PossibleRate) or 2) Used the maximum volume for a species and it will be attained in 50 years at the rate shown here (PossibleRate<ProposedRate). Conversion from volume to Mg C assumed a simple 2.7m³*0.5*0.5

Model estimates of C stocks were compared to published estimates of aboveground biomass and soil C pools. Table 8 shows that in general, our values for these two C pools in the selected forests were also consistent with available data for coniferous, broadleaf and semi-evergreen forests in Mexico. For example, from the analysis of the frequency distribution of biomass estimates derived from the two cycles of plot-level measurements of INFyS (2004-7, 2009-13) we estimated that the forests in the state of QROO were concentrated in younger age classes (Figure 5). This assumption corresponded well with the aboveground biomass values reported in this study when compared against values for secondary forests of the Yucatan peninsula and northern Chiapas (e.g. <35 years old, Urquiza *et al.* 2007, Orihuela *et al.* 2013, Aryal *et al.* 2014), but was almost twice the national average reported in BUR (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015). In contrast, we assumed a relatively even age-class distribution at the start of the simulation for DGO (Figure 5). Here, our state-level estimate for aboveground biomass fell within the reported values between secondary and mature forests for coniferous and broadleaf forests.

In general, reported values for soil did not vary much among successional stages of the forests. However, our estimate for QROO differs between 0% and 12% compared to studies in the Yucatan peninsula, and by up to 25% at the national level. To our knowledge, there are no scientific publications examining soil carbon at the local or state level in DGO. Thus, we compared our estimate against values reported in the BUR and in a study at the regional level in Western Sierra Madre. Here, our values were between 8% and 17% lower than the national values for coniferous forests or the regional study, but 43% higher than the estimate for broadleaf mature forests reported in the BUR (INECC-SEMARNAT 2015).

	AGBiom (MgC ha ⁻¹)	SOC (MgC ha⁻¹)
DGO (Coniferous and broadleaf forests)		
Silva-Arrendondo and Návar-Cháidez 2009	57 (0.24 CI)	
López-Serrano <i>et al.</i> 2016	44 (22 SD)	
López et al. 2012		
Coniferous	46	
Broadleaf	31	
Balbontín <i>et al.</i> 2009 – Western Sierra Madre		58 (44 SD)
de Jong e <i>t al.</i> 2010 – National		
Coniferous secondary forests	15 (23%U)**	58 (41%U)
Coniferous mature forest	47 (11%U)**	63 (23%0)
CONAFOR 2014 – National		
Coniferous secondary forests	22 (5%U)	49 (66%U)
Coniferous mature forest	37 (2%U)	44 (66%U)
Broadleaf secondary forests	15 (5%U)	35 (̀54%U)́
Broadleaf mature forest	21 (5%U)	30 (68%U)
IPCC 2003, 2006, Temperate forests - America	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Coniferous ≤20 years	25 (10-55)	20
Coniferous >20 years	65 (20-140)	30
This study*	35 (1 SD)	53 (0.1 SD)
QROO (semi-evergreen tropical humid forests)		
Urquiza <i>et al</i> . 2007		
30-50 yr-old forest	53 (2 SE)	
Old-growth forest (>50 yrs)	103 (4 SE)	
Orihuela <i>et al.</i> 2013		
Secondary forests	59 (±9 CI)	75 (+10;-9 CI)
Undisturbed forest	104 (±15 CI)	75 (+12;-10 Cl)
Aryal et al. 2014		
20 yr-old forests	41 (12 SD)	50 (33 SD)
35 yr-old forest	55 (2 SD)	68 (30 SD)
Mature forest (> 35 yrs)	99 (24 SD)	67 (35 SD)
Sánchez <i>et al.</i> 2015	112 (8%U)	69 (13%U)
CONAFOR 2014 – National	00(00(11))	04 (500(1))
Evergreen secondary forests	20(9%U)	84 (59%U)
Evergreen mature forest	40 (3%U)	61 (94%U)
appual precipitation) America	105 (100-210)	38-65
	50 (A SD)	
i nis study"	59 (4 SD)	07 (U.U3 SD)

Table 8. Comparison	is of reported average e	stimates on carbon	stocks for aboveground
biomass (AGB	iom) and soil organic ca	arbon (SOC) in DGC	and QROO.

Notes: *Average values for the period 2001-2010; SD=Standard Deviation; SE=Standard Error; CI=95% Confidence Interval; %U= percentage of uncertainty. **These values include live aboveground and belowground biomass.

4.4. Considerations for implementation of scenarios

Although future analyses should also address economic and social elements for the full implementation assessment of mitigation activities (e.g. Lemprière *et al.* 2017, Xu *et al.* 2017), our study provides assessments of the potential GHG impacts of the mitigation strategies outlined in Mexico's NDC. A mitigation target based on a change of activity data (e.g. net zero deforestation rate) may yield similar types of benefits, but at very different magnitudes depending on where it is implemented. National policies have different effects on actual emissions reductions depending on local forest characteristics and historic rates of LUC and it is therefore important to consider different policies at the state or even municipal levels when designing mitigation strategies.

Avoiding deforestation has significant mitigation benefits in QROO and much less so in DGO, because of the different deforestation rates in the baseline case and differences in forest carbon density at maturity (higher in QROO and lower in DGO). In QROO, in addition to reducing the deforestation pressure (e.g. cattle ranching, fire events, etc.; Ellis *et al.* 2015), we estimate that the avoided deforestation will require the equivalent to increasing the current network of conservation areas by 30% by 2030 (if they work properly and there is no leakage). Another potential way to achieve this goal in QROO is by expanding the area under regulated forest practices. Forest management currently has little impact on emissions in this state. If the area under management is increased greatly, the benefit would be twofold; it would help to reduce the overall rate of deforestation and avoid forest degradation through illegal logging practices (the last two not considered in this analysis). It would also increase the number of policy actions and co-benefits (Kapos *et al.* 2012, Skutsch *et al.* 2017) and still maintain the positive mitigation benefits within the state.

The timing of policy implementation matters. In the case of DGO, if harvest is increased by 50%, it will generate higher CO₂e emissions relative to BAU. However, implementing forest management actions sooner (e.g. transitioning sooner to higher productivity and harvest cycles) can ameliorate the increase in CO₂e emissions in M3 scenario by 2050 and provide other co-benefits in terms of contributing to revenues from LLP, diversified job options, etc. In addition, timing is also relevant for enhancing the mitigation potential of other strategies, such as increasing benefits from enhanced forest recovery (the earlier the better) or the duration of carbon stored in HWPs.

Finally, interactions among mitigation activities can affect the sign of the benefits over time. In our analysis for the M4 scenario (where all forest strategies are combined), adding more LLP and changing the displacement factor from a low to a medium value in DGO, changed the negative mitigation benefit to a positive one and became the second-best mitigation strategy for that state. Although more local data on displacement factors are required, this example shows the role that HWPs can play in achieving forest carbon mitigation targets and highlights the importance of including them in national GHG inventories.

Chapter 5. Conclusion

Mexico has a national forest inventory that allows for reporting changes in all carbon pools every five years as part of its MRV system. With the collaboration of the three forest services of North America, CEC and other government partners, progress has also been made to assess the impacts of the main drivers (forest growth, harvest, fire and land-use changes) of past and projected emissions as well as assess mitigation activity scenarios. This information can support the design of low-cost, high-benefit, forest sector interventions (Aguillón *et al.* 2009) to help achieve mitigation and adaptation goals (e.g. NDC).

Here we assessed the impacts of possible national forest mitigation strategies on net GHG emissions in two contrasting states. Using a consistent and transparent systems approach for the forest sector, we parameterized available tools with information from Mexico (e.g. forest inventory, activity data, HWP) to quantify the biophysical mitigation potential of specific actions that the government has identified as priorities to reach emission reduction goals, while co-existing with other forest management policies (e.g. increasing national-scale timber supply and productivity – ENAIPROS).

The results show clearly that if reducing GHG emissions is the main goal, avoiding deforestation (M1 and M2 scenarios) is the principle strategy to do so. In both states, the greatest reduction came from reducing gross deforestation rates by 2030, but the magnitudes were very different due to differences in the baseline rates of deforestation as well as differences in carbon density. Because GHG reduction goals interact with other socio-economic aspects (e.g. the need for employment, timber, etc.), the results from this analysis shows a variety of policy actions available to meet societal needs and still reduce GHG emissions (e.g. increase harvest for manufacturing of long-lived products, use of mill residues for bioenergy, use of wood products instead of steel or concrete). The possible actions taken together will never maximize the benefit from any one goal, however the approach used here can help identify the most optimal compromise for the forest sector.

37

In Mexico, the systems approach has not previously been used, but this study demonstrates the utility of existing modelling frameworks, parameterized with local data, for both monitoring and projections. Few studies are available that have examined the mitigation potential of the forest sector in Mexico (Masera *et al.* 1997, Aguillón *et al.* 2009, Garcia *et al.* 2015). This study provides some important insights since it: 1) identifies and assesses the main drivers of GHG emissions (e.g. land-use changes), 2) does not assume a fixed mitigation potential (recognizes changes over time in this type of system), 3) uses the same data that are used for national official reporting to the UNFCCC, 4) tracks carbon in HWP (currently assumed in Mexico's official reporting as instantly oxidized after harvest), 4) assesses the potential interaction with other sectors to reduce emissions, 5) provides specific information related to Mexico's NDC and Mid-Century plans for 2030 and 2050 and 6) exemplifies the implication of non-carbon objectives (e.g. increasing timber production) on the forest sector that may affect the success of reaching mitigation targets (e.g. NDC).

While the estimates of emissions and removals can be improved (e.g. when more detailed information becomes available on land-use change, forest degradation rates, displacement factors, etc.), this framework can already be expanded to other regions of Mexico and other more complex scenarios can now be implemented (e.g. forest degradation reduction, sustainable forest management), analyzed and ranked against alternative management policies. This work provides a solid foundation for the continued evolution and improvement for implementing the systems approach to mitigation by the forest sector in Mexico.

References

Ángeles Gregorio, Colegio de Postgraduados personal communication

- Aguillón J, Olguín M, Arias T, Berrueta V *et al.* 2009. Agriculture, forestry, and bioenergy *Low-Carbon Development for Mexico. Conference Edition* ed T M Johnson, C Alatorre, Z Romo and F Liu (Washington DC, USA: The World Bank) pp 73-81
- Ávila-Flores D Y, Pompa-García M, Antonio-Nemiga X. Rodríguez-Trejo X. Vargas-Pérez D and Santillán-Pérez J 2010 Driving factors for forest fire occurrence in Durango State of Mexico: A geospatial perspective *Chinese Geographical Science* **20** 6-491
- Aryal D R, De Jong B H J, Ochoa-Gaona S, Esparza-Olguin L and Mendoza-Vega J 2014 Carbon stocks and changes in tropical secondary forests of southern Mexico Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment **195** 220-230
- Balbontín C, Cruz C O, Paz F and Etchevers J D 2009 Soil Carbon Sequestrationin Different Ecoregions of Mexico *Soil Carbon Sequestration and the Greenhouse Effect* ed R Lal and R F Follet (Madison, USA: ASA–CSSA–SSSA) pp 71-98
- Birdsey R, Angeles G, Kurz W A, Lister A, Olguín M, Pan Y, Wayson C A, Wilson B and Johnson K 2013 Approaches to monitoring changes in carbon stocks for REDD+ *Carbon Management* **4** 519-537
- Boudewyn P, Song X, Magnussen S, Gillis M D 2007 Model-based, Volume-to-Biomass Conversion for Forested and Vegetated Land in Canada (Victoria, BC, Canada: Canadian Forest Service).
- Bray D B, Merino-Pérez L, Negreros-Castillo P, Segura-Warnholtz G, Torres-Rojo J M and Vester, H F 2003 Mexico's community-managed forests as a global model for sustainable landscapes *Conserv. Biol.* **17** 672–677
- CEC 1997 Ecological regions of North America: Toward a common perspective (Montreal, Quebec, Canada: Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC))
- CEC 2010 Terrestrial Protected Areas of North America (Montreal, Quebec, Canada: Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC)) (Accessed: 16 June 2017, www.cec.org/naatlas)
- CONAFOR 2012 Inventario Nacional y de Suelos. Manual y procedimientos para el muestreo de campo: Re-muestreo (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- CONAFOR 2013 Estrategia Nacional de manejo Forestal Sustentable para el Incremento de la Producción y la Productividad, 2013-2018 (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))

- CONAFOR 2014 Estimación de las reservas de carbono en la biomasa forestal en México (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- CONAFOR 2015 Estrategia Nacional para REDD+ (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- CONAFOR 2016 Documento de la Iniciativa de Reducción de Emisiones (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- CONAFOR 2017 Información de estadísticas anuales de incendios forestales en México (Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- de Jong B, Tipper R and Taylor J 1997 A framework for monitoring and evaluating carbon mitigation by farm forestry projects: Example of a demonstration project in Chiapas, Mexico *Miti. Adapt. Strat. Gl. Change* **2** 231–246
- de Jong B, Masera O, Olguín M and Martínez R D 2007 Greenhouse gas mitigation potential of combining forest management and bioenergy substitution: a case study from Central Highlands of Michoacan, Mexico *Forest Ecology and Management* **242** 398-411
- de Jong B, Anaya C, Masera O, Olguín M, Paz F, Etchevers J, Martínez R, Guerrero G and Balbontín C 2010 Greenhouse gas emissions between 1993 and 2002 from land-use change and forestry in Mexico *Forest Ecology and Management* **260** 1689-1701
- Dai Z, Birdsey R A, Johnson K D, Dupuy J M, Hernandez-Stefanoni J L and Richardson K 2014 Modeling carbon stocks in a secondary tropical dry forest in the Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* **225** 1925
- DOF 2012 Ley General de Cambio Climático (Diario Oficial de la Federación (DOF), Gobierno de México) http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/ref/lgcc.htm
- Dugan A J, Birdsey R, Mascorro V S, Magnan M, Smyth C E, Olguin M and Kurz W A *In review* A Systems Approach to Assess Climate Change Mitigation Options in Landscapes of the United States Forest Sector
- Ellis E A, Kainer K A, Sierra-Huelsz J A, Negreros-Castillo P, Rodriguez-Ward D and DiGiano M 2015 Endurance and Adaptation of Community Forest Management in Quintana Roo, Mexico *Forests* **6** 4295–4327
- Ellis E A, Hernández-Gómez I U, Romero-Montero J A 2017 Los procesos y causas del cambio en la cobertura forestal de la Península Yucatán, México *Ecosistemas* **26** 101-111
- Environment Canada 2017 National Inventory Report: 1990-2015, greenhouse gas sources and sinks in Canada (Ottawa, ON, Canada: Environment Canada, Greenhouse Gas Division)

- FAO 2015 *Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015* (Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the UN)
- Ford A and Nigh R 2009 Origins of the Maya Forest Garden: Maya Resource Management *Journal of Ethnobiology* **29** 213-236
- Fragoso-Servón P, Pereira A, Baustista F and G Zapata 2017 Digital soil map of Quintana Roo, Mexico *Journal of Maps* **13** 449-456
- Fuentes M E, Carrillo N, Flores R, Aguilar P, Buendía E, Ordóñez C, López F, Monroy C, López J L, Hernández E and Couttolenc E 2012 Determinación del potencial y aprovechamiento de los residuos forestales en la producción de bioenergía y de especies no aprovechadas en el manejo forestal (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Investigaciones Forestales, Agrícolas y Pecuarias and Comisión Nacional Forestal)
- Galicia Germánico, Director of Forestry Development, Mexican National Forestry Commission *personal communication*
- García E 1998 *Isotermas Medias Anuales, escala 1:1000000* (Mexico City, Mexico: Comisión Nacional para el Conocimiento y Uso de la Biodiversidad)
- García C A, Riegelhaupt E, Ghilardi A, Skutsch M, Islas J, Manzini F and Masera O 2015 Sustainable bioenergy options for Mexico: GHG mitigation and costs *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* **43** 545–552
- García-López G 2013 Scaling up from the grassroots and the top down: the impacts of multi-level governance on community forestry in Durango, Mexico International Journal of the Commons **7** 406-431
- Gebhardt S, Wehrmann T, Ruiz MA, Maeda P, Bishop J, Schramm M, Kopeinig R, Cartus O, Kellndorfer J, Ressl R, Santos L A, Schmidt M 2014 MAD-MEX: Automatic Wall-toWall Land Cover Monitoring for the Mexican REDD-MRV Program Using All Landsat Data *Remote Sensing* **6** 3923-3943
- Hansen M C *et al.* 2013 High resolution global maps of 21stcentury forest cover change *Science* **342** 850–3
- IEA 2016 CO₂ Emissions from Fuel Combustion, Highlights (Paris, France: International Energy Agency (IEA))
- INECC-SEMARNAT 2015 First Biennial Update Report to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Mexico City, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Ecología y Cambio Climático (INECC) and Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (SEMARNAT))
- INEGI 1992 Conjunto de datos vectoriales de la carta de uso del suelo y vegetación, escala 1:250,000, Serie II (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))

- INEGI 2003 Conjunto de datos vectoriales de la carta de uso del suelo y vegetación, escala 1:250,000, Serie III (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2007 Conjunto de datos vectoriales de la carta de uso del suelo y vegetación, escala 1:250,000, Serie IV (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2011 Conjunto de datos vectoriales de la carta de uso del suelo y vegetación, escala 1:250,000, Serie V (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEG 2014 Conjunto de datos vectoriales edafológico, escala 1:250000, Serie II (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2015a Anuario estadístico y geográfico de Durango (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2015b Anuario estadístico y geográfico de Quintana Roo (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2015c Guía para la interpretación de cartografía: uso del suelo y vegetación: escala 1:250,000: serie V (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- INEGI 2016 Áreas geoestadísticas municipales 2015, escala: 1:250 000 (Aguascalientes, Mexico: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI))
- IPCC 2003 Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry ed J Penman *et al.* (Hayama, Japan: IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme)
- IPCC 2006 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories ed H S Eggleston *et al.* (Hayama, Japan: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies)
- IPCC 2011 Use of Models and Facility-Level Data in Greenhouse Gas Inventories ed H S Egglestonuda *et al.* (Hayama, Japan: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies)
- Kapos V, Kurz W A, Gardner T et al 2012 Impacts of forest and land management on biodiversity and carbon Understanding Relationships between Biodiversity, Carbon, Forests and People: The Key to Achieving REDD+ Objectives ed J A Parrota, C Wildburger and S Mansourian (Global Forest Expert Panel on Biodiversity, Forest Management, and REDD+ Volume 31) (Viena, Austria: IUFRO World Series) pp 53-82
- Kiernan M and Freese C 1997 Mexico's plan piloto forestal: the search for balance between socioeconomic and ecological sustainability *Harvesting wild species: implications for biodiversity* ed C Freese (Baltimore, Maryland: Johns Hopkins University Press) pp 93–131

- Kim M, Lee W K, Kurz W A, Kwak D A, Morken S, Smyth C E, Ryu D 2016 Estimating carbon dynamics in forest carbon pools under IPCC standards in South Korea using CBM-CFS3 *iForest* **10** 83-92
- Kull S J, Kurz W A, Rampley G, Banfield E, Schivatcheva R K, Apps M 2011 Operational-scale Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3). Version 1.0: User's Guide (Alberta, Canada: Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Northern Forestry Centre).
- Kurz W A, Dymond C C, White T M, Stinson G, Shaw C H, Rampley G J, Smyth C, Simpson B N, Neilson E T, Trofymow J A, Metsaranta J and Apps M J 2009 CBM-CFS3: A model of carbon-dynamics in forestry and landuse change implementing IPCC standards *Ecol. Model.* 220 480–504
- Kurz W A, Birdsey R A, Mascorro V S, Greenberg D, Dai Z, Olguín M and Colditz R 2016a Executive Summary Commission for Environmental Cooperation 2016 Integrated Modeling and Assessment of Forest Carbon Dynamics: Tools for monitoring, reporting and projecting forest greenhouse gas emissions (Montreal, Canada: Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC)) 120 p
- Kurz W A, Smyth C and Lemprière T C 2016b Climate change mitigation through forest sector activities: principles, potential and priorities *Unasylva* **246** 61-67
- Lawrence D and Foster D 2002 Changes in forest biomass, litter dynamics and soils following shifting cultivation in southern Mexico: an overview *Interciencia* **27** 400-408
- Lemprière TC, Kurz WA, Hogg EH *et al.* 2013 Canadian boreal forests and climate change mitigation *Environmental* Reviews **21** 293-321
- Lemprière T C, Krcmar E, Rampley G J, Beatch A, Smyth CE, Hafer M, Kurz WA 2017 The cost of climate change mitigation in Canada's forest sector *Canadian Journal* of Forest Research **47** 604-614
- López A, González J L, Valenzuela L M, Bueno P, Viera A and Cruz A 2012 Uso de suelo, cambio de uso de suelo y silvicultura *Inventario Estatal de Gases de Efecto de Invernadero de Durango 2005-2008* (Durango, Mexico: Goberno del Estado de Durango-SEMARNAT-INE-COCyTED) pp 102-151
- López-Serrano P M, López-Sanchez C A, Diaz-Varela R A, Corral-Rivas J J, Solís-Moreno R, Vargas-Larreta B and Alvarez-Gonzalez J G 2015 Estimating biomass of mixed and unevenaged forests using spectral data and a hybrid model combining regression trees and linear models *iForest* **9** 226-234
- Masera O 1995 Carbon mitigation scenarios for Mexican forest: Methodological considerations and results *Interciencia* **20** 388–395
- Masera O, Ordóñez M J and Dirzo R 1997 Carbon emissions from Mexican forests: the current situation and long-term scenarios *Climatic Change* **35** 265–295

- Mascorro V S, Coops N C, Kurz W A and Olguín M 2016 Attributing changes in land cover using independent disturbance datasets: a case study of the Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico *Regional Environmental Change* **16** 213–228
- Metsaranta J M, Kurz WA, Neilson E T, Stinson G 2010 Implications of future disturbance regimes on the carbon balance of Canada's managed forest (2010–2100) *Tellus B* **62** 719-728
- Nabuurs G J, Masera O, Andrasko K, Benitez-Ponce P, Boer R, Dutschke M, Elsiddig E, Ford-Robertson J, Frumhoff P, Karjalainen T, Krankina O, Kurz W A, Matsumoto M, Oyhantcabal W, Ravindranath N H, Sanz Sanchez M J and Zhang X 2007 Forestry ed B Metz *et al. Climate Change 2007: Mitigation* (Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press)
- O'Connell B M, LaPoint E B, Turner J A, Ridley T, Pugh S A, Wilson A M, Waddell K L and Conkling B L 2014 *The Forest Inventory and Analysis Database: Database description and user guide version 6.0.1 for Phase 2.* (Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture, United States Forest Service)
- Olguín M, Kurz W, De Jong B, Paz F, Ángeles G, Zermeño C, and Flores R 2011 Hacia el uso del modelo CBM-CFS3 a escala nacional en México: proyecto piloto Chiapas *Estado Actual del Conocimiento del Ciclo del Carbono y sus Interacciones en México: Síntesis a 2011* ed F Paz and R M Cuevas (Estado de Mexico, Mexico: Programa Mexicano del Carbono) pp 90-97.
- Olguín M, Wayson C, Kurz W A, Birdsey R, *et al.* 2015 Hacia un enfoque Tier 3 en paisajes estratégicos en México, modelos ecosistémicos y sitios de monitoreo intensivo del carbono *Proceedings of the 14th World's Forestry Congress,7-11, 2015 September* (Durban, South Africa)
- Olguín M, Kurz WA, Wayson C, Fellows M, Maldonado V, López-Merlín D, Carrillo O and Ángeles G 2016 Estimating past and projected future GHG emissions Integrated Modeling and Assessment of North American Forest Carbon Dynamics: Tools for monitoring, reporting and projecting forest greenhouse gas emissions and removals ed W A Kurz et al. (Montreal, Canada: Commission for Environmental Cooperation) pp 60-69
- Olguín-Álvarez M, Wayson C, Fellows M, Birdsey R, Smyth C, Magnan M, Dugan A, Mascorro V, Alanis A, Serrano E, Kurz W *In review* Applying a systems approach to assess carbon emission reductions from climate change mitigation in Mexico's forest sector
- Olofsson P, Foody G M, Herold M, Stehman S V, Woodcock C E, Wulder M 2013 Making better use of accuracy data in land change studies: Estimating accuracy and area and quantifying uncertainty using stratified estimation *Remote Sensing of Environment* **129** 122–131
- Orihuela-Belmonte D E, de Jong B H J, Mendoza-Vega J, Van der Wal J, Paz-Pellat F, Soto-Pinto L, Flamenco-Sandoval A 2013 Carbon stocks and accumulation rates in tropical secondary forests at the scale of community, landscape and forest type *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **171** 72– 84

- Pereira A, Prezas B, Olivares J A, Fragoso P, Ventura H E and Marin L A 2010 Inventario Estatal de Emisiones de Gases de Efecto Invernadero (Quintana Roo, Mexico: Gobierno de Quintana Roo and Grupo de Ordenamiento Territorial)
- Pilli R, Grassi G, Kurz W, Smyth C, and Blujdea V 2013 Application of the CBM-CFS3 model to estimate Italy's forest carbon budget, 1995–2020 *Ecological Modelling* 144-171
- Pilli R, Grassi G, Kurz W A, Fiorese G and Cescatti A 2017 The European forest sector: past and future carbon budget and fluxes under different management scenarios *Biogeosciences* **14** 2387–2405
- PRONAFOR 2014 Programa Nacional Forestal, Reporte Especial (Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal (CONAFOR))
- Read L and Lawrence D 2003 Recovery of biomass following shifting cultivation in dry tropical forests of the Yucatan *Ecol. Appl.* **13** 85–97
- Rodríguez-Trejo D A 2008 Fire regimes, fire ecology, and fire management in Mexico *Ambio* **37** 548–556
- Sánchez G, Arreola JA, López D, Maldonado V, Olguín M, Wayson C, Carrillo O. and Puc R 2016 Intensive Carbon Monitoring Site in Quitana Roo *Final Report for Strengthening REDD*+ *and South-South Cooperation Project* (Mexico City, Mexico: Comisión Nacional Forestal)
- Sathre R and O'Connor J Meta-analysis of greenhouse gas displacement factors of wood product substitution *Environ. Sci. Policy* **13** 104–114
- SEMARNAT 2014 Anuario Estadístico de la Producción Forestal (Mexico City, Mexico: Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (SEMARNAT))
- SEMARNAT-INECC 2016 *Mexico's Climate Change Mid-Century Strategy* (Mexico City, Mexico: Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (SEMARNAT) and Instituto Nacional de Ecología y Cambio Climático (INECC))
- Silva-Arrendondo F M and Návar-Cháidez J J 2009 Estimación de factores de expansión de carbono en comunidades forestales templadas del norte de Durango, Mexico *Revista Chapingo, Serie Ciencias Forestales y del Ambiente* **15** 155-163
- Skutsch M, Paneque-Gálvez J, Ghilardi A, Balderas-Torres A, Morfin-Rios J, Michel-Fuentes J M, Carrillo O and Ross D 2017 Adapting REDD+ policy to sink conditions *Forest Policy and Economics* **80** 160–166
- Smith P, Bustamante M, Ahammad H, Clark H et al. 2014 Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) ed Edenhofer O et al. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change (Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press)

- Smyth C E, Stinson G, Neilson E, Lemprière T C, Hafer M, Rampley G J and Kurz WA 2014 Quantifying the biophysical climate change mitigation potential of Canada's forest sector *Biogeosciences* 3515-3529
- Smyth C E, Rampley G, Lemprière T C, Schwab O, Kurz W A 2016 Estimating product and energy substitution benefits in national-scale mitigation analyses for Canada *GCB Bioenergy* **9** 1071-1084
- Smyth C E, Smiley B P, Magnan M, Birdsey R, Dugan A J, Olguin M, Mascorro V S and Kurz W A *In review*, Climate change mitigation in Canada's forest sector: a spatially explicit case study for two regions
- Stinson G, Kurz W A, Smyth C E *et al.* 2011 An inventory-based analysis of Canada's managed forest carbon dynamics, 1990 to 2008 *Global Change Biology* **17** 2227-2244
- SRNyMA 2006 Programa Estratégico Forestal 2030 (Durango, Mexico: Secretaría de Recursos Naturales y Medio Ambiente (SRNyMA), Estado de Durango)
- Torres-Rojo J M, Moreno-Sánchez R and Mendoza-Briseño M A 2016 Sustainable Forest Management in Mexico *Curr. Forestry Rep.* **2** 93-105
- UNFCCC 2015 INDCs as communicated by Parties (New York, USA: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC))
- USDA Forest Service 2011 *The Forest Inventory and Analysis Database, Version 5.1.2* (Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture, United States Forest Service)
- Urquiza-Haas T, Dolman P M, Peres C A 2007 Regional scale variation in forest structure and biomass in the Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico: Effects of forest disturbance *Forest Ecology and Management* **247** 80-90
- Vargas-Larreta B, López-Sánchez C A, Corral-Rivas J J, López-Martínez J O, Aguirre-Calderón C G and Álvarez-González J G 2017 Allometric Equations for Estimating Biomass and Carbon Stocks in the Temperate Forests of North-Western Mexico *Forests* **8** doi:10.3390/f8080269
- Wehenkel C, Cruz-Cobos F, Carrillo A and Lujan-Soto J E 2012 Estimating bark volumes for 16 native tree species on the Sierra Madre Occidental, Mexico *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* **27** 578-585
- Xu Z, Smyth C E, Lemprière T C, Rampley G J, Kurz W A 2017 Climate change mitigation strategies in the forest sector: biophysical impacts and economic implications in British Columbia, Canada *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 1-34
- Zamolodchikov D G, Grabovskii V I, Korovin G N, Gitarskii M, Blinov V G, Dmitriev V and Kurz W A 2013 Carbon budget of managed forests in the Russian Federation in 1990–2050: Post-evaluation and forecasting. *Russian Meteorology and Hydrology* **38** 10 701-714